

# Review of written responses to superannuation complaints

Report 752 | December 2022

### About this report

This report summarises the findings from an evaluation conducted for ASIC by Susan Bell Research of 274 responses to general superannuation complaints issued by 10 trustees.

It highlights the elements identified in the research as undermining the effectiveness of written responses to complaints and includes seven recommendations for how these responses can be improved. Review of written responses to superannuation complaints

Report prepared for ASIC

December 2022



## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	4
Why ASIC commissioned this report	4
The evaluation process	4
Summary and recommendations	5
Results of the quantitative scorecard	5
Seven reasons why some letters scored lower than others	7
Seven recommendations to improve IDR responses	
Detailed findings	13
About this section	13
Quantitative scorecard analysis	13
Attention, Motivation, Comprehension and Acceptance scores: Qualitative analysis	
Appendix	
1. Evaluation method	
2. How readers experience an IDR response	
3. Susan Bell Research	20

## Introduction

### Why ASIC commissioned this report

Internal dispute resolution (IDR) requirements for financial firms were revised by ASIC Regulatory Guide 271 *Internal dispute resolution* (RG 271) on 5 October 2021. To meet these updated requirements, superannuation trustees must respond to complaints within a shorter time frame than applied before 5 October 2021. Like all financial firms, they must also meet new minimum content requirements for responses to complaints.

The Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) engaged Susan Bell Research to conduct an evaluation of written responses to complaints from members that had been issued by ten superannuation trustees. These written responses are referred to as IDR responses in RG 271. These were all responses to complaints made about a superannuation fund excluding those about the distribution of a death benefit.

ASIC sought this review as part of a wider thematic project looking at IDR in superannuation given that superannuation is a long-term and inherently complex product for many consumers. The ten trustees<sup>1</sup> were selected by ASIC as part of this project and the review of their IDR responses related to one superannuation fund per trustee. Each superannuation fund had over 50,000 members.

### The evaluation process

ASIC requested the evaluation process to be a desk-based assessment of the style, tone, and structure of these IDR responses.

A person who receives an IDR response should be able to understand:

- the outcome of their complaint
- the reasons for this outcome and
- any remedial or other actions that have been taken.

Susan Bell Research created an evaluation framework based on the psychology of reading and plain language principles. The framework has four key elements:

- 1. engaging the reader's attention
- 2. motivating the reader to read the IDR response in full
- 3. comprehension of the information contained in the IDR response
- 4. supporting the reader in accepting the outcome and making it clear that their complaint had been heard.

We worked with ASIC to develop a quantitative scorecard and a qualitative assessment based on this framework. More details on what was evaluated and the evaluation methodology are provided in the Appendix of this report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> When we use the term trustee in this report, we mean the entity in its capacity as trustee for the one super fund covered by ASIC's work.

## Summary and recommendations

### **Results of the quantitative scorecard**

### The trustee scores

The IDR responses reviewed included both emails and letters that are referred to collectively as 'letters' in this report.

The evaluators assessed a total of 274 letters issued by 10 trustees. We gave each letter a score out of 30. This was a composite based on the four elements of the framework.

A score of 30 meant that the letter would attract the complainant's attention, motivate them to read all of it, understand all of it and accept that their complaint has been heard.

Any score less than 30 meant one or more of:

- The reader may not have seen information that they needed to know
- The reader may not have understood that information
- The reader may not have accepted that information or known what to do next.

The evaluators then calculated an average score for each trustee. Table 1 shows that the average trustee score was 24. The lowest trustee score was 22 and the highest 26. None of the 10 trustees achieved the maximum of 30.

### Table 1. Average scores for the ten trustees overall

Maximum possible score	Average for	Lowest	Highest
	the ten trustees	trustee score	trustee score
30	24	22	26

### The range of letter scores

There was considerable variation between the letters. As Table 2 shows, 14% of the letters scored less than 20 out of 30, 46% scored between 20 and 24, and 40% scored 25 or more, where 30 was the highest score possible.

### Table 2. Distribution of scores

Percentage of letters that scored under 20	Percentage of letters that scored between 20 and 24	Percentage of letters that scored 25 or more
14%	46%	40%

The evaluators described the language of each letter as having low, mid or high complexity. Table 3 shows that 40% of the letters had low complexity language, 41% mid complexity and 19% high complexity. The detailed findings explain what these terms mean.

### Table 3. Complexity of the language

Low complexity	Mid complexity	High complexity
40%	41%	19%

### Attention, Motivation, Comprehension and Acceptance

The framework used to assess each letter has four parts: Attention, Motivation, Comprehension and Acceptance.

Attention and Motivation were given a weighting of 5 for this analysis. Comprehension and Acceptance were given a weighting of ten.

Average scores for each element for the letters reviewed overall are shown in Table 4:

### Table 4. Average scores for the letters overall

Element	Maximum score possible	Average for all letters
Attention	5	4
Motivation	5	4
Comprehension	10	7
Acceptance	10	9

The average for Attention was 4 out of 5, for Motivation 4 out of 5, for Comprehension 7 out of 10 and Acceptance 9 out of 10.

**Proportionally the lowest of these was Comprehension**. Comprehension refers to the likely ease with which the intended reader could understand the letter, and, as the next section shows, is one of the main reasons for the wide variety of scores.

Next - the seven reasons why some letters were less effective than others.

### Seven reasons why some letters scored less than others

The qualitative assessment revealed seven key reasons why some letters scored less than others.

### Reason 1. Templates that were not suitable for all complaints

Most of the letters that the evaluators reviewed appear to have been based on templates. Some of these templates seemed to have been designed for simple investigations when the reality was that IDR responses were often more complex.

### Letters with a lot of detail

Some letters seemed to require more detail than the template had been designed for. For example, some included long timelines. These timelines lengthened the body of the letter especially when the claim and complaint had gone on for some time. This was especially the case for letters that listed every call that the complainant made to the call centre or every time the trustee tried to contact the complainant, including the failed attempts.

Some letters were long because they included many paragraphs reiterating policy information or company processes.

The effect was to bog the letter down in detail.

### **Templates with bullet points**

Some templates seemed to expect the author to summarise the information in bullet points. Bullet points are an effective way to help readers scan documents. However, they are only usually effective when they are short.

### **Emails without templates**

Some trustees communicated to complainants by email apparently without a template, which relied on authors knowing how to create an easy-to-read layout. This meant that the author needed to know how to create effective layouts.

### Reason 2. Letters that were hard to read

Letters that scored highly were generally written in a way that made them easy to read. Letters that were hard to read had one or more of the problems described below.

### Some letters placed too heavy demand on working memory

When people read they use working memory. Some IDR responses used long sentences and long paragraphs that would place a high cognitive demand on working memory<sup>2</sup>.

This is an example from one trustee: A 'calculation was performed to assess the negative financial impact on the client's account due to the incorrect allocation of the contributions'. Some sentences were much longer.

When working memory reaches capacity, readers forget what the sentence was about, or skim or skip the rest of the sentence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Refer to the Appendix: Reading and working memory

### Many letters used passive voice

Many letters used passive voice such as 'you were provided incorrect information'. An active voice version would be 'We gave you the wrong information'. Active voice is easier for people to read.

### Some were written in 'work voice'

Work voice is our term for the language used in corporate and government workplaces that is characterised by wordy language, words with three or more syllables, use of the passive voice and complex constructions.

This is an example of sentences that used work voice: 'Please find enclosed an acknowledgement letter to be signed and returned to us, waiving your rights to make any insurance claim for the period where a reimbursement of insurance premiums has occurred'.

- It is a long sentence that uses the passive voice twice 'to be signed and returned to us', and 'where a reimbursement of insurance premium has occurred'.
- It is complex because it includes several topics in one sentence the need to sign and return the letter, and a waiver that is relevant under certain conditions.
- The result is that the action that the complainant needs to make is buried within the sentence.

Other examples of work voice are overly formal style, with phrases such as 'as per' and 'thereafter' which would be unfamiliar to many readers.

### Some used jargon

Some letters used specialised terminology ('jargon') – for example, a phrase like 'zeroing out the deduction' in a letter to a complainant or 'your unitised cover'.

Some letters described internal processes using internal language such as 'a system configuration issue'.

Our evaluation took into account the intended reader of the letter. In most cases this was the fund member, but in other cases letters were sent to financial advisers. We accept that letters sent to advisers will use specialist industry terminology. These were not assessed as 'jargon'.

### Some had been written for a narrow range of readers

One way to assess readability is to use a readability checker such as the Flesch-Kincaid system. 'This system uses a formula that combines the average word length with the average sentence length to show reading difficulty.'<sup>3</sup>

The evaluators used a Flesch Kincaid calculator to assess the reading level of a sample of sentences from each trustee. The sentences chosen were typical of the style used by that trustee. Information about the calculator can be found here: <u>https://goodcalculators.com/flesch-kincaid-calculator/</u>.

The calculator assessed these test sentences as appropriate only for readers who had some form of tertiary education. While this does not mean that all sentences in all these IDR responses were written at the tertiary level, many letters included many sentences that would have been difficult for people with only primary or secondary education.

<sup>3</sup> https://stylemanual.com.au/contents/engaging/making-text-readable/readability-metrics-and-reading-skills

### Reason 3. Prioritising the apology over the outcome

Some letters started with an apology. In some cases this apology was a three or four line paragraph. In others, it was several paragraphs. These paragraphs included one or more of:

- a generic apology in the sense that it was not specific to this complaint
- a thank you for the opportunity to respond to the complaint
- an expression of disappointment about poor service.

While it was important to apologise, the primary purpose of the IDR response was to inform the complainant about the outcome of the complaint. In other words, some letters prioritised the apology over the outcome.

Some letters also prioritised lengthy explanations of company processes, commitments to excellence or improvement and long technical analyses.

### Reason 4. Lecturing people who had complained

When they made their complaint, some complainants seem to have misunderstood the trustee's processes or product. For example they seemed to not know:

- how fluctuations in the share market could have affected their superannuation balance
- whether or not they had insurance or
- whether their insurance had been cancelled without their knowledge.

Some letters responded to this type of complaint well. Early in the letter they used statements like 'You are not eligible to claim', and then briefly explained why. A few of these letters included technical information in an appendix, or a link.

In contrast, other letters included long paragraphs that read like lectures on investment or insurance. Some quoted verbatim from the Product Disclosure Statement (PDS) or policy or from internal communication with the insurer that used specialised insurance terminology.

The IDR response effectively became a restatement of a policy or PDS instead of a response. One letter devoted an 8-line paragraph at the top of the second page to this point.

Arguably, this style of response makes matters worse. These letters looked daunting and they were hard to read – and in some cases the tone implied that the complainant was at fault for not knowing.

### Reason 5. Failing to take responsibility

People who complain need to understand the outcome of their complaint and know what to do next. As part of this they also need to know if – and to what extent – the trustee was responsible for any problems they had experienced.

For example, some payments and rollovers were delayed because of technical problems. Some staff members provided the wrong form or gave complainants the wrong information.

Almost all letters with this message to convey used the passive voice to convey it – as in 'an administrative error occurred'. This gave the impression that the trustee was not taking responsibility.

### Reason 6. Placing a 'call to action' where it was hard to see

Sometimes, the trustee needed the complainant to take a further step to resolve the complaint. This could involve, for example, submitting or signing documentation so that they could complete a transaction or advance the insurance process.

- Some letters made sure that the information required was easy to see, for example in a bullet point.
- In contrast, some letters mentioned the required documentation in a long or unrelated paragraph, making it easy to miss.

### Reason 7. Spelling and grammatical errors

Every trustee submitted several letters that had spelling or grammatical mistakes. These were especially common in emails. Typical errors included:

- missing words
- misplaced apostrophes usually member's instead of members'
- lack of punctuation
- wrong words such as 'wavier' instead of 'waiver' or 'deceleration' instead of 'declaration'
- misspelled names, including the name of the trustee in one specific example.

### Seven recommendations to improve IDR responses

The seven recommendations below will help not only trustees but also providers of financial services more generally.

### Recommendation 1. Design templates for different circumstances

On the evidence of this review, members of superannuation funds complain about a wide range of topics, including internet speed, insurance premiums, delays in processing transactions, service issues, and investment performance.

Sometimes the investigation described in the letter revealed multiple attempts to contact the complainant, or multiple times the complainant tried to have their rollover or claim completed, for example.

The template used for the IDR response needs to be flexible enough to accommodate the wide variety and complexity of the issues raised by complainants.

Consider using appendices and attachments to provide necessary complex or detailed information so that the body of the letter clearly tells the reader the outcome and next steps.

### Recommendation 2. Make the letter or email easy to read

Follow the advice on accessibility and literacy provided by the Australian Government Style Manual, when writing to the general public and aim to write for someone with Year 7 education <sup>4</sup>.

Letters and emails that are easy to read have these characteristics:

- They have short sentences in short paragraphs so that the reader can keep the necessary information in working memory.
- Each paragraph has only one topic.
- The letters or emails are short. Readers are more likely to read and understand shorter letters than longer ones.
- Detailed timelines and process descriptions are in an appendix or attachment, if they are needed at all.

### Recommendation 3. Write for a broad audience

Even though the IDR responses may be about a complex topic such as investment performance, the audience for the response primarily comprises superannuation fund members who vary in their knowledge of the language of superannuation, investments or insurance.

Two specific recommendations here:

- 1. If you write to members, make sure that you do not use language that only professionals would understand.
- 2. Avoid quoting large paragraphs in technical language directly from the insurer's response, insurance policy or a disclosure document like a PDS unless you can be sure that the language will be familiar to your audience, and it is well-formatted for ease of reading.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>https://www.stylemanual.gov.au/accessible-and-inclusive-content/literacy-and-access</u>

### Recommendation 4. Make high value information stand out

IDR responses should provide high value information early in the letter. High value information is information that the complainant wants or needs to discover from the letter. Examples of high value information are:

- whether the trustee has accepted the complaint or not
- steps that the complainant needs to take to complete the process for example, they may need to provide a certified ID
- next steps that they can take if they are unhappy with the trustee's response.

One way to achieve this is to talk more about the customer than yourself. For example, say more about the complaint than about your own customer service standards and process improvements. Another suggestion is to have a heading or sub-heading for the complaint outcome and another for the call to action.

### Recommendation 5. Keep the body of the letter short

People are more likely to read all of a short letter than a long letter. While it can be challenging to write a short letter for complex complaints with an extensive history of interactions, the benefit for trustees will be that the complainant sees and understands the information you need them to know or act on.

Ways to shorten letters include:

- Use attachments and appendices.
- Reconsider how much information the complainant actually needs in this letter.
- Use a less wordy writing style.

### Recommendation 6. Be accountable

An effective IDR response means that a complainant can understand the outcome of their complaint and the reasons for the outcome. To clearly explain the outcome, trustees must be open about their own mistakes and delays. This is about more than using a generic apology about 'any inconvenience caused'. It means telling the truth in a way that people who have complained can understand. To do that:

- Use active voice for errors, mistakes and delays that you cause as in 'We made a mistake when we ...'. Avoid hiding behind passive voice expressions such as 'you were provided with incorrect information'.
- Place this information after information about the status of the complaint.

This is a good example from one trustee: 'We can see that the communication from the fund could have been clearer, thereby avoiding unnecessary delays.'

### Recommendation 7. Resource appropriately

These are complex letters to write, so staff training is very important – as is allocating time for proof-reading and peer review within the maximum timeframes for issuing IDR responses set out in RG 271.

## **Detailed findings**

### **About this section**

This detailed findings section starts with the quantitative analysis of the IDR responses. It is followed by our qualitative analysis. Both the quantitative and qualitative analysis took into account that:

- Most readers of IDR responses will not have a background in superannuation, investments or insurance. They may know about a few product features but are likely to be unfamiliar with the terminology or the legislation.
- The IDR response may be the first time that they have read or tried to understand this kind of information. They may have no prior experience to draw on.

The evaluation also drew on the psychology of reading, especially working memory<sup>5</sup>.

### **Quantitative scorecard analysis**

### We used a quantitative scorecard to assess each letter

The foundation of our IDR response evaluation was a quantitative scorecard used to assess the individual responses from each of the ten trustees.

- The maximum score that a letter could achieve on the scorecard was 30.
- A score of 30 meant that the letter was easy to read and the outcome, explanation and next steps were easy to see and understand.
- Any score less than 30 meant that the reader may not have seen the information and/or not understood that information and/or not accepted or known what to do next.

### The average trustee score was 24 out of 30

These individual letter scores were then combined into a trustee score. The average score for the ten trustees was 24, as shown in Table 5. The range was between 22 and 26.

#### Table 5. Average trustee scores – overall

Maximum score possible	Average for	Lowest	Highest
	the ten trustees	score	score
30	24	22	26

### Most (60%) letters scored under 25

To assess consistency, we categorised the scores for each trustee into three groups:

- 1. letters scoring below 20
- 2. letters scoring between 20 and 24
- 3. letters scoring 25 or more.

Table 6 shows the percentage of letters in each category. Fourteen percent scored under 20, 46% between 20 and 24, and 40% scored 25 or more.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Please refer to the appendix – Reading and working memory

### Table 6. Distribution of scores

Percentage of letter that scored under 20	Percentage of letters that scored between 20 and 24	Percentage of letters that scored 25 or more
14%	46%	40%

#### Reasons for the range of scores

The two main factors that contributed to this range of scores were:

- How long the letter was which related in part to whether the desired complaint outcome was denied or accepted. However, the way that the letter was designed and formatted also made a difference.
- The language used in the letter, specifically whether the language was appropriate for its audience.

### Some letters were too long

In general, shorter letters scored higher than longer letters. While this can be partly explained by the fact that some short letters were about less complex matters than the longer letters, it is also relevant that:

- 1. Some of the longer letters included many paragraphs of policy terms and conditions quoted verbatim from official documentation.
- 2. These letters often had minimal formatting, making it hard for the complainant to find the outcome of their complaint.
- 3. Some apologies were long and difficult to read. Many of these letters took several paragraphs to recount months of interactions between the trustee and the member before admitting that the trustee had made a mistake.

Note though that it was also the case that some short letters had a low score and some long letters a high score, mainly because of the language as described below.

### Most (60%) letters used complex language

Table 7 shows the evaluators' qualitative assessment about the complexity of the language for each trustee after rating their IDR responses as low complexity, mid complexity or high complexity.

In this context, we assessed complex language to mean:

- technical language or jargon in a letter to a fund member
- wordiness, corporate language or 'work voice' <sup>6</sup> in any letter
- long sentences and long paragraphs in any letter
- detailed financial calculations or lists of numbers in the body of the letter.

Table 7 shows that the language of 40% of the letters was judged to be low in complexity, 41% mid complexity, and 19% high complexity.

#### Table 7. Complexity of language

Low complexity	Mid complexity	High complexity
40%	41%	19%

<sup>6</sup> 'Work voice' is the way people write when writing internal documents at work.

### Attention, Motivation, Comprehension and Acceptance scores

The new IDR requirements in RG 271 cover the content of IDR responses. The aim is to ensure that complainants are provided with sufficient information to understand the outcome of their complaint and the rationale for decisions that are not in the complainant's favour. 'Sufficient information' should also include any remedial or other actions that have been taken.

We used our Attention, Motivation, Comprehension and Acceptance framework to assess how well the trustees met these criteria. Below, we summarise what each of these means.

### Attention

Letters need to attract the reader's attention straight away. Key to this is a letter design that makes it easy for the reader to find the information they need, specifically the outcome of the complaint and the next steps.

### Motivation

The reader needs to feel motivated to read all of the letter. This means knowing that the letter is about the complaint, finding the outcome easily and not feeling daunted by difficult layout or language.

### Comprehension

To understand the outcome of their complaint, the reader must understand the words used and be able to process the information in the sentences and paragraphs. This is especially the case if they need to understand a legal process or technical product feature.

#### Acceptance

Acceptance assesses whether the trustee explains the reasons for the outcome, takes responsibility for its own mistakes or delays, treats the complainant with empathy, apologises where appropriate, educates the complainant, where that would be helpful, and/or makes the next steps clear.

### Summary of results on the framework

Table 8 shows how the trustees performed on applying the framework. It shows the average for each element and the lowest and highest score.

Element	Maximum score possible	Average for all ten trustees	Lowest trustee score	Highest trustee score
Attention	5	4	4	5
Motivation	5	4	3	4
Comprehension	10	7	6	8
Acceptance	10	9	8	9

#### Table 8. Average trustee scores on the framework

Overall, the most critical problem was comprehension – where the average score was seven out of ten, the lowest score six and the highest eight. In other words, some trustees communicated more clearly in their complaint letters than others.

- In terms of Attention, there was little variation between the trustees. Some scored the maximum of 5 points, while others scored 4.
- Motivation no trustee scored the maximum points of 5. The range was between 3 and 4.
- Acceptance no trustee scored the maximum of 10 points. The lowest score was 8 and the highest 9.

## Attention, Motivation, Comprehension and Acceptance scores: Qualitative analysis

This next section explains more about how the trustees performed on the Attention, Motivation, Comprehension and Acceptance framework.

### Attention

Responses to complaints need to attract the reader's attention straight away. IDR responses that scored highly made it easy for the reader to find the information they needed, specifically the outcome of the complaint and the next steps.

Letters that scored well made it immediately clear that they were about the complaint.

However, in terms of finding the outcome within the response, there was much more variation.

- The outcome of the complaint was generally easily seen in *short* letters. In longer letters about complex problems the outcome of the complaint was often hard to see because it was part of a long and sometimes unrelated paragraph.
- The longer letters tended to be about complex problems or lengthy claims when it was particularly important that the complainant could identify any actions they needed to take.

Our review suggests that longer IDR responses would benefit from using more headings and using short bullet points. Removing information from the body of the letter and placing it in an attachment can also be beneficial.

### Motivation

The reader needs to feel motivated to read all of the letter. This means knowing that the letter is about the complaint, finding the outcome easily and not feeling daunted by difficult layout or language.

Letters that scored well on motivation:

- were short or
- had headings to break up large amounts of text.

Letters that did not score well on motivation:

- were long some were over five pages. The longest letters included copied and pasted sections of the policy or PDS, and/or
- used too few sections and headings.

Sometimes there was a lot of text under the heading of 'the investigation' (or equivalent) because the complaint was complex or the investigation lengthy. These letters (and where relevant the template they were based on) would have benefited from more headings and subheadings to break up this text. Otherwise, the complainant may skim-read it and therefore not understand it fully.

### Comprehension

Every trustee scored below the benchmark of 10 on comprehension. The problems were:

• **Poor readability**. To assess how readable the text was, the evaluators used the Flesch Kincaid<sup>7</sup> calculator to assess the reading level of a sample of sentences from each trustee. The sentences chosen were typical of the style used by that trustee. In every case, the calculator assessed the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>https://goodcalculators.com/flesch-kincaid-calculator/

sentence as appropriate only for a reader with tertiary education, rather than the Grade 7 level recommended by the Australian Government and plain language advocates.

- Very long sentences. The ideal sentence length is up to 20 words. Some letters had sentences with more than 50 words.
- **'Work voice'.** Work voice is a style of language rarely seen or heard outside the workplace. Examples include the phrase 'a good faith payment on a no lability basis' and 'the team adopts a diversified approach to portfolio construction'. Almost all trustees used work voice, some more than others.
- Jargon. In this context the evaluators considered a word or phrase to be jargon if it was a specialist superannuation, investment or insurance term and the letter was written for a fund member and not a professional. The term 'risk tolerances' was considered jargon as was 'net tax liability'. Both terms were used in letters to members.
- Spelling errors and grammatical mistakes. Every trustee submitted several and in some cases many

   letters that had spelling or grammatical mistakes. These were especially common in emails. Typical
   errors included poor or missing punctuation, the wrong word, and mis-spelled words, including mis spelled names.

### Acceptance

Acceptance means being able to use the information in the letter. In the current case it means the complainant being satisfied that their issues have been considered or knowing what other steps to take.

Most of these letters did explain the reasons for the outcome of the complaint, apologised in an appropriate way and made the next steps clear. However, some trustees placed too much emphasis on explaining their own processes rather than on the complaint itself.

Empathy is another aspect of acceptance – whether the person who has complained feels that the trustee has understood them and empathises with their circumstances. It was rare to see any obvious disregard for the complainant's feelings or circumstances, nor were authors overtly critical of complainants.

However, some authors did not appear to understand that a person who, for example, fears their rollover funds have gone missing will likely contact the call centre every day until the rollover is complete.

People who have complained needed reassurance as well as the explanation for what seemed to the complainant to be a delay. Referring to the number of times the person called can seem like criticism.

Some letters implied that the complainant was at fault for not having remembered (or understood) their policy.

In summary, this analysis has shown that IDR responses can be improved. One improvement that could have significant impact would be to make the letters more readable. If they are more readable, they are more likely to be understood and accepted as a satisfactory response. This means using words and phrases that are familiar to the audience. and using short sentences. It is also important that apologies and descriptions of company processes do not get in the way of the complainant finding the outcome of the complaint and knowing what to do next.

## Appendix

### **1. Evaluation method**

### What we evaluated

As part of ASIC's wider project looking at IDR in Superannuation, ASIC used its compulsory information gathering powers to obtain copies of actual consumer complaints made to 10 superannuation trustees (related to one super fund per trustee), and the letters and/or emails that constituted the written IDR response to those complaints. ASIC selected the trustees and super funds being covered based on information gathered in an earlier stage in its wider project and previous work related to IDR.

The super funds selected together had over 5 million member accounts and \$390B in assets as at 30 June 2021.

ASIC mandated the sample of the IDR responses that the 10 trustees needed to provide for each super fund, being a specific number of the first or last IDR responses issued in the months of January 2022, February 2022, March 2022 and April 2022. In this way, ASIC sought to obtain a random sample.

ASIC then provided Susan Bell Research with a de-identified summary of the issues raised by each complainant in their complaint and view-only access<sup>8</sup> to a copy of the corresponding IDR response or a pdf of the IDR response which had been redacted to remove personal details. When providing these responses to Susan Bell Research, ASIC excluded those which were an objection to the proposed distribution of a superannuation death benefit, due to the unique nature of those complaints.

In total ASIC provided 274 IDR responses to be reviewed by Susan Bell Research, with no more than 30 for any single trustee. Less than 30 were provided where a trustee had issued less than 30 IDR responses to complainants in the period 1 January 2022 to 30 April 2022.

The evaluators were Research Society Fellows Jane Gregory and Susan Bell.

### The evaluation framework

Susan Bell Research worked with ASIC to develop a scorecard based on the evaluation framework designed by Susan Bell Research. When developing the scorecard, Susan Bell Research drew on our user testing experience and our knowledge of the psychology of language – especially our knowledge of how people read formal and official documentation:

- The reader must first pay attention.
- Then the reader must feel motivated to read all of it.
- Then they must be able to understand what they read.
- And then be able to use the information they have gained in the case of IDR responses this meant accepting the outcome or knowing what other steps to take.

The framework therefore has four parts: Attention, Motivation, Comprehension and Acceptance. In our view, the last two of these are more important than the first two, at least as far as IDR responses are concerned. We therefore chose to give a 10-point weighting to each for Comprehension and Acceptance and five points each for Attention and Motivation.

More information in Table 9 below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> arranged by way of an approved secure electronic file-sharing service.

### Table 9. Evaluation framework and scoring system

Element	What this means	Score out of
Attention	Does the letter tell the reader what the letter is about and help the reader see relevant content?	5
Motivation	Are the layout and appearance of the letter likely to motivate the reader to read it?	5
Comprehension	Does the letter use words and sentences that would be familiar and easily understood by the intended reader?	10
Acceptance	Is the reader likely to understand and accept the outcome of the complaint and/or know the next steps to take?	10
Overall	The overall score for the letter when the scores for Attention, Motivation, Comprehension and Acceptance are combined	30

As this shows, the maximum score for any letter was 30.

### 2. How readers experience an IDR response

### Reading complex information for the first time

Most readers of IDR responses will not have a background in superannuation, investment or insurance. They may know about a few product features but are unlikely to be familiar with the terminology and the legislation.

The IDR response may be the first time that they have read or tried to understand this kind of information. They probably have no prior experience to draw on.

Writing in a way that makes the reading experience easier under these circumstances means taking working memory into account, as described below.

### **Reading and working memory**

When people read, they use working memory. Most people can keep a sentence of about 20 familiar words in working memory as they read.

For this reason, paragraphs should be about one topic. There should be space between paragraphs to allow the reader to clear working memory and start again.

Section headings and bold font also help readers process information.

### **IDR** responses and working memory

An IDR response can be particularly demanding of working memory, because:

- They are often about complex topics.
- Superannuation, investment, and insurance organisations have their own technical language which the general public does not necessarily understand.
- At the heart of the complaint, there may be regulatory or company processes that are unknown to the complainant.
- Some complaints occur because the complainant does not understand their product, policy, the legislation, or the share market.

### 3. Susan Bell Research

Susan Bell Research offers research and content testing services and consultancy services.

We have decades of experience conducting content testing of policy documents, guidelines, letters, statements, SENs, and landing pages for the superannuation, investment and insurance industries. We know how people read documents of this kind.

Susan Bell and Jane Gregory are Fellows of the Research Society and therefore bound by the Research Society Code of Professional Behaviour.

The agency is Australian-owned and managed and AS/NZS ISO 20252 Market and social research certified.

Susan Bell is a member of the International Plain Language Association PLAIN and has written articles for the ejournal PLAIN.

Susan Bell Research is a registered business name, and division of Les Bell & Associates Pty Ltd, of which Susan Bell is a Director.

#### Table 10. Information about Susan Bell Research

Contact	Susan Bell
Position title	Director
Phone	0409657317
Email	suebell@sbresearch.com.au
Website	www.sbresearch.com.au
Full legal business name:	Les Bell & Associates, trading as Susan Bell Research
Registered business address:	Suite A25 Level 2 24 Lexington Dr Bella Vista NSW 2153
The ACN	for Les Bell & Associates is 002144032
The ABN	for Les Bell & Associates is 44 350 636 020 (Bell Settlement Trust)
Postal address	1, Cullen St. Forestville 2087